Noncommutativity and the weak cosmic censorship

Gupta, Kumar S.; Jurić, Tajron; Samsarov, Anđelo; Smolić, Ivica

Source / Izvornik: Journal of High Energy Physics, 2019, 2019

Journal article, Published version Rad u časopisu, Objavljena verzija rada (izdavačev PDF)

https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2019)170

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:217:806296

Rights / Prava: Attribution 4.0 International/Imenovanje 4.0 međunarodna

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-03-26



Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository of the Faculty of Science - University of Zagreb





Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 3, 2019 ACCEPTED: September 30, 2019 PUBLISHED: October 15, 2019

Noncommutativity and the weak cosmic censorship

Kumar S. Gupta,^a Tajron Jurić,^b Andjelo Samsarov^b and Ivica Smolić^c

^a Theory Division, Saha Institute of Nuclear Physics,

^bRudjer Bošković Institute, Bijenička c.54, HR-10002 Zagreb, Croatia
^cDepartment of Physics, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia
E-mail: kumars.gupta@saha.ac.in, tjuric@irb.hr, asamsarov@irb.hr,

ABSTRACT: We show that a noncommutative massless scalar probe can dress a naked singularity in AdS_3 spacetime, consistent with the weak cosmic censorship. The dressing occurs at high energies, which is typical at the Planck scale. Using a noncommutative duality, we show that the dressed singularity has the geometry of a rotating BTZ black hole which satisfies all the laws of black hole thermodynamics. We calculate the entropy and the quasi-normal modes of the dressed singularity and show that the corresponding spacetime can be quantum mechanically complete. The noncommutative duality also gives rise to a light scalar, which can be relevant for early universe cosmology.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes, Models of Quantum Gravity, Non-Commutative Geometry, Spacetime Singularities

ARXIV EPRINT: 1908.07402

ismolic@phy.hr



^{1/}AF Bidhannagar, Calcutta 700064, India

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	BTZ black hole and noncommutativity	3
	2.1 Noncommutative framework	3
	2.2 NC scalar field in BTZ background and mapping to equivalent commutative	
	model	3
3	Dressing the naked singularity	6
4	Properties of the dressed singularity	9
	4.1 Thermodynamical properties and entropy	9
	4.2 QNM modes and connection to CFT	9
	4.3 Naked singularity and quantum completeness	10
5	Final remarks	11

1 Introduction

Gravitational singularities are mainly considered in the context of general relativity, where density becomes infinite at the center of a black hole, and within astrophysics and cosmology as the earliest state of the universe during the Big Bang [1]. It is expected that any object undergoing a gravitational collapse, compressed beyond its Schwarzschild radius would form a black hole, inside which a singularity would be formed, which is covered by an event horizon. This is in accordance with the weak cosmic censorship hypothesis [2–5], which states that naked singularities should not appear in nature. Otherwise the causality may break down and physics, in particular general relativity, may lose its predictive power.

There exists a strong belief that quantum theory could help with smearing out of classical singularities. This has been discussed in the context of loop quantum gravity [6–10], string theory [11], fuzzballs [12], higher derivative gravity [13] and asymptotic safety [14]. It has also been argued that the general framework of quantum mechanics helps to address the singularity problem [15–17]. In particular, there are examples of static spacetimes with timelike singularities where the dynamics of a quantum test particle is completely well behaved for all time [18]. Another problem that is closely related to the existence of singularities is that of geodesic completeness [19]. In this context it is worthy to mention that although the spacetime may be geodesically incomplete, the Laplacian can still be essentially self-adjoint, giving rise to a unique evolution in time [18–27].

The 2+1 dimensional spacetime with a negative cosmological constant and the associated BTZ geometry [28, 29] provides a convenient setting to investigate various concepts related to singularity resolution. Here one may consider quantum backreaction effects as a way to put singularity under control [30-32]. Indeed, it has recently been shown that quantum backreaction can dress a naked singularity in 2+1 dimensions with a negative cosmological constant [31, 32]. In another approach, it was found that the BTZ black hole cannot be spun-up beyond a certain limit, confirming the weak cosmic censorship in 2+1 dimensional asymptotically AdS spacetime [33]. Since a class of counterexamples have been identified in Einstein-Maxwell gravity that violates the cosmic censorship hypothesis, an idea was put forth that a weak gravity conjecture [34] might fix the issue and preserve cosmic censorship [35, 36].

In this paper we explore the role of spacetime noncommutativity within the context of the weak cosmic censorship hypothesis. It is well known that noncommutativity is a possible description of the spacetime structure at the Planck scale, which arises naturally when general relativity and the quantum uncertainty principle are considered in unison [37-39]. The idea of resolution of the spacetime singularities have already been discussed in fuzzy manifolds [40, 41]. Here we take the κ -deformed algebra as a model of spacetime noncommutativity [42-44], which arises in several descriptions of noncommutative black holes [45-47] and cosmology [48]. For this purpose we employ a toy model consisting of a naked singularity in 2+1 gravity [28, 29, 49]. We will show that probing such a spacetime with a massless noncommutative scalar field transforms the naked singularity into BTZ black hole. This happens when the frequency or the energy of the NC probe satisfies a suitable condition described by the system parameters. The features of the black hole depends on the noncommutative parameter as well as the energy scale of the probe. In addition, this process produces a very light massive scalar field whose mass depends on the noncommutative deformation parameter. Noncommutative geometry has been used to describe cosmological models of early universe [50] including noncommutative inflation [51, 52]. It is plausible that the light scalar predicted by our analysis can be of relevance in early universe cosmology within the context of quintessence [53]. It may be noted that the question of quantum completeness of the BTZ spacetime using a noncommutative probe was considered in [54], which suggested that noncommutativity may smear out the singularity by allowing quantum completeness for a wider range of BTZ parameters.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we summarize the basic arguments leading to a dual picture between a system including noncommutative scalar field that probes a classical nonrotating BTZ geometry and a system consisting of a spinning BTZ black hole perturbed by a massive commutative scalar field [55–58]. These two systems appear to be mathematically equivalent, with the equivalence being enforced by the parameter transformations expanded up to first order in deformation. In section 3, we analyze conditions under which noncommutativity is able to dress the naked singularity. For this we start with a naked singularity in 2+1 dimensional AdS spacetime and probe it with a noncommutative massless scalar field. We show that for a suitable range of the probe frequency and the system parameters, the naked singularity is dressed as a BTZ black hole. In section 4 we study the physical properties of the dressed singularity and conclude the paper in section 5 with some final remarks.

2 BTZ black hole and noncommutativity

2.1 Noncommutative framework

Before describing a model on which our analysis is based, we recall the formal setting utilized for building the model. Hence, starting with some noncommutative (NC) algebra of coordinates \hat{x}_{μ} , we may consider its universal enveloping algebra, denoted by $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$, which consists of formal power series expansions in coordinates \hat{x}_{μ} . More precisely, introducing an algebra \mathcal{A} with unit element 1, and generated by commutative coordinates x_{μ} and yet introducing the action $\triangleright : \mathcal{H} \mapsto \mathcal{A}$, one may identify the algebra \mathcal{A} as a D-module over the ring of polynomials in \hat{x}_{μ} . The action $\triangleright : \mathcal{H} \mapsto \mathcal{A}$ itself is defined by

$$x_{\mu} \triangleright 1 = x_{\mu}, \quad p_{\mu} \triangleright 1 = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad x_{\mu} \triangleright f(x) = x_{\mu}f(x), \quad p_{\mu} \triangleright f(x) = i\frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{\mu}}.$$
 (2.1)

Here, x_{μ} and p_{μ} are the generators of the Heisenberg algebra \mathcal{H} satisfying the relations,

$$[x_{\mu}, x_{\nu}] = [p_{\mu}, p_{\nu}] = 0, \quad [p_{\mu}, x_{\nu}] = i\eta_{\mu\nu}, \tag{2.2}$$

where $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-, +, +)$. Moreover, there exists an isomorphism between the NC algebra $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$, generated by the noncommutative coordinates \hat{x}_{μ} and the commutative algebra \mathcal{A}_{\star} , generated by the commutative coordinates x_{μ} , but this time with \star as the algebra multiplication. The star product between any two elements f(x) and g(x) in \mathcal{A}_{\star} is defined as

$$f(x) \star g(x) = \hat{f}(\hat{x})\hat{g}(\hat{x}) \triangleright 1, \qquad (2.3)$$

where $\hat{f}(\hat{x})$ and $\hat{g}(\hat{x})$ are the elements in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ that are respectively and uniquely assigned to the elements f(x) and g(x), through the following correspondences, $\hat{f}(\hat{x}) \triangleright 1 = f(x)$, and $\hat{g}(\hat{x}) \triangleright 1 = g(x)$. These correspondences provide a basis for the isomorphism between $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ and \mathcal{A}_{\star} .

Furthermore, we let the coordinates \hat{x}_{μ} satisfy the κ -Minkowski algebra [42–44]

$$[\hat{x}_{\mu}, \hat{x}_{\nu}] = i(a_{\mu}\hat{x}_{\nu} - a_{\nu}\hat{x}_{\mu}).$$
(2.4)

Here a_{μ} are the components of a deformation 3-vector in Minkowski space with the metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$. We shall be concerned with the situation where the deformation vector is oriented in a time direction, $a_{\mu} = (a, 0, 0)$, where a is the deformation parameter, $a = \frac{1}{\kappa}$, that fixes the energy scale at which the effects of noncommutativity are expected to occur. Most frequently it is taken to be of the order of the Planck length.

It is important to emphasize that the coordinates \hat{x}_{μ} admit a differential operator representation within the enveloping algebra of \mathcal{H} in terms of the formal power series in x_{μ} and p_{ν} [59–62].

2.2 NC scalar field in BTZ background and mapping to equivalent commutative model

In view of the setting just described, in [55-58] a model was proposed that is based on the action

$$\hat{\mathcal{S}} = \int d^3x \sqrt{-g} \ g^{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_\mu \phi \star \partial_\nu \phi\right) = \int d^3x \sqrt{-g} \ g^{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_\mu \hat{\phi} \partial_\nu \hat{\phi} \triangleright 1\right)$$
(2.5)

describing a coupling of the scalar particle to a metric of the form (in units where $8\pi G = c = \hbar = 1$)

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} M - \frac{r^2}{l^2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{r^2 - M} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & r^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where l is related to the cosmological constant Λ as $l = \sqrt{-\frac{1}{\Lambda}}$. As the noncommutative coordinates used in constructing the action (2.5) satisfy κ -Minkowski algebra, it is understood that this action is invariant under κ -deformed Poincaré symmetry, at least at the semi-classical level. This means that the gravity is considered to be described by the classical degrees of freedom and is not affected by the spacetime deformation, ($\delta_a g_{\mu\nu} = 0$). The matter field instead is subject to a quantum deformation and is consequently described by a noncommutative degree of freedom. Thus, the only way the noncommutativity enters the formalism is through a scalar field, which is treated as a noncommutative variable. This approach therefore amounts to considering a noncommutative scalar field coupled to a classical geometrical background produced by the spinless (J = 0) BTZ black hole with mass M.

The presence of the κ -deformed Poincaré symmetry in the action (2.5) in a way described above is ensured by means of implementing the following star product

$$f(x) \star g(x) = f(x)g(x) + i\beta' \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} x_{\mu} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right) \left(\eta^{\lambda\sigma} a_{\lambda} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x^{\sigma}}\right) + i\beta(\eta^{\mu\nu} a_{\mu} x_{\nu}) \left(\eta^{\lambda\sigma} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{\lambda}} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x^{\sigma}}\right) + i\bar{\beta} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} a_{\mu} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right) \left(\eta^{\lambda\sigma} x_{\lambda} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x^{\sigma}}\right).$$
(2.7)

which is compatible with κ -deformed Poincaré symmetry. Here β', β and $\bar{\beta}$ are the parameters determining the differential operator representation of the κ -Minkowski algebra and the star product has been expanded up to first order in a. It should be noted that each choice of the triplet of parameters β', β and $\bar{\beta}$ corresponds to a specific differential operator representation [59] of noncommutative coordinates and also to a different choice of the coproduct, as well as different basis of κ -Poincaré algebra. All these notions in turn correspond to the vacuum of the theory and this should, at least in principle, be fixed by experiment.

As shown in [55], the leading terms in the action (2.5) that are consistent with the approximation used and are within a first order in the deformation parameter a do not acquire the contributions from the β' and $\bar{\beta}$ terms in the star product (2.7). Thus the only contributions to the action within a given approximation come from the β term and they give rise to a field equation (Klein-Gordon equation) for a scalar field that may be written in a generic form

$$[\Box_g + \mathcal{O}(a))\phi = 0, \qquad (2.8)$$

where \Box_g is a standard Klein-Gordon operator for the metric (2.6) and $\mathcal{O}(a)$ groups together all the remaining terms generated by the star product (2.7) and allowed by the approximation used. After a separation of the variables, $\phi(r, \theta, t) = R(r)e^{-i\omega t}e^{im\theta}$, the equation (2.8) leads to the radial equation [55, 56]

$$r\left(M - \frac{r^2}{l^2}\right)\frac{\partial^2 R}{\partial r^2} + \left(M - \frac{3r^2}{l^2}\right)\frac{\partial R}{\partial r} + \left(\frac{m^2}{r} - \omega^2 \frac{r}{\frac{r^2}{l^2} - M} - a\beta\omega\frac{8r}{l^2}\frac{\frac{3r^2}{2l^2} - M}{\frac{r^2}{l^2} - M}\right)R = 0,$$
(2.9)

where ω and m are respectively the energy and the angular momentum (magnetic quantum number) of the scalar particle. As already explained, β is the parameter determining the differential operator representation of the κ -Minkowski algebra. Further details are elaborated in [55–58].

Using the substitution

$$z = 1 - \frac{Ml^2}{r^2},\tag{2.10}$$

eq. (2.9) can be brought [55, 56] into the form

$$z(1-z)\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 R}{\mathrm{d}z^2} + (1-z)\frac{\mathrm{d}R}{\mathrm{d}z} + \left(\frac{A}{z} + B + \frac{C}{1-z}\right)R = 0, \qquad (2.11)$$

where the constants A, B and C are

$$A = \frac{\omega^2 l^2}{4M} + a\beta\omega, \quad B = -\frac{m^2}{4M}, \quad C = 3a\beta\omega.$$
(2.12)

The equation (2.11), together with the coefficients (2.12), describes the dynamics of a massless NC scalar field with energy ω and angular momentum m, probing a geometry of the BTZ black hole with mass M and vanishing angular momentum (J = 0). However, as noted in [56, 57], the form of this equation is the same as the form of the radial equation governing a commutative massive scalar field in a background of a BTZ black hole with a modified mass and nonvanishing angular momentum [63]. Formally, there is another coordinate transformation, given by $z \mapsto w = 1/z$, which preserves the form of the equation of the black hole horizon from z = 1 to $w = \infty$, so that there is no ambiguity left in identification of the parameters A, B and C. The modified black hole parameters obtained in this way we label respectively by M' and J' and the equivalent black hole setting they describe, we refer to as the dual black hole setting. The dual black hole parameters were calculated in [57]. Specifically, within a first order of deformation a, the mass M' and the angular momentum J' in the dual black hole setting are given as

$$M' = M \left[1 - 4L_{\rm NC}\omega M \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \frac{2}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2} + \frac{l^2}{\lambda^2} \frac{2\sigma^2\lambda^2 - \sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2}{\sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2} \left(\frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2} - \frac{1}{\lambda} \right) \right) \right],$$

$$J' = 4L_{\rm NC}\omega M^2 \frac{l^2}{\lambda\sigma} \frac{2\sigma^2\lambda^2 - \sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2}{\sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2} \right).$$
(2.13)

The quantities λ , σ and $L_{\rm NC}$ appearing in the above two relations are the abbreviations defined as follows

$$\lambda \equiv l^2 \omega^2 + m^2, \tag{2.14}$$

$$\sigma \equiv 2\omega m, \tag{2.15}$$

$$L_{\rm NC} \equiv -a\beta > 0. \tag{2.16}$$

One may easily see that when the noncommutative parameter a goes to zero, two situations coincide, i.e. M' goes to M and J' vanishes, as expected. Another interesting point is that in the dual black hole setting the scalar field acquires a mass μ' ,

$$3L_{\rm NC}\omega = \frac{\mu'^2 l^2}{4}.$$
 (2.17)

Moreover it brings about certain back-reaction effects by affecting the geometry through which it propagates, as being manifestly seen by the change in both the mass and the spin of the BTZ black hole.

These features may give a spacetime noncommutativity a novel perspective in which noncommutativity acquires two different roles, one that it might be responsible for generating a particle mass and the other that it may provide a suitable ground for some back-reaction effects to take place. Moreover, the scalar field that we obtained is very light and, as will be more obvious in the next section, it is a byproduct of the dressing via duality. We note that such a very light scalar field may be relevant for quintessence or for fuzzy dark matter scenario in early universe cosmology [53].

The above analysis implies that the equation (2.8) can be recast into the form

$$\left(\Box_{g'} - \mu'^2\right)\phi = 0, \tag{2.18}$$

describing a dynamics of the massive commutative scalar field in the metric

$$g'_{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} M' - \frac{r^2}{l^2} - \frac{(J')^2}{4r^2} & 0 & \frac{-J'}{2} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{r^2 + \frac{J'^2}{4r^2} - M'} & 0 \\ \frac{-J'}{2} & 0 & r^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.19)

The metric (2.19) corresponds to a spinning BTZ black hole with the mass M' and the angular momentum J' and $\Box_{g'}$ is the Klein-Gordon operator for this metric. Therefore, we see that there exists a mathematical mapping between two physically different situations, one describing the NC massless scalar field in the non-rotational BTZ background, and the other describing the ordinary massive scalar field which probes a BTZ geometry with a non-vanishing angular momentum. For further details regarding the interpretation of this analytic mapping and a corresponding equivalence/duality between two physical settings we refer the reader to reference [57].

As expected, the mass and the angular momentum of the dual spinning BTZ black hole are related to its outer and inner radii, r'_{+} and r'_{-} , through

$$M' = \frac{r_{+}^{\prime 2} + r_{-}^{\prime 2}}{l^{2}}, \quad |J'| = \frac{2r_{+}'r_{-}'}{l}.$$
 (2.20)

For the original non-rotational BTZ the actual radii are respectively given by $r_{+} = l\sqrt{M}$ and $r_{-} = 0$.

3 Dressing the naked singularity

As discussed before, there is an equivalence between the system of NC scalar field probing a commutative BTZ background (M, J = 0) and a commutative scalar field probing an effective BTZ background (M' = M'(M, a), J' = J'(M, a)). This effective background captures the NC effect. In this section we consider the case where we start with a naked sigularity (M < 0). Using the above mentioned duality, we will show that this naked singularity will be dressed and protected by the NC corrections under certain conditions.

We start with the assumption that

$$M < 0, \quad M = -|M|$$
 (3.1)

and rewrite the condition in (2.13) for the parameters of the dual effective metric (2.19) as

$$M' = M(1 + Mf), \quad J' = gM^2$$
(3.2)

where

$$f = -4L_{\rm NC}\omega \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \frac{2}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2} + \frac{l^2}{\lambda^2} \frac{2\sigma^2\lambda^2 - \sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2}{\sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2} \left(\frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2} - \frac{1}{\lambda}\right)\right), \quad (3.3)$$

$$g = 4L_{\rm NC}\omega \frac{l^2}{\lambda\sigma} \frac{2\sigma^2\lambda^2 - \sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2}{\sigma^2l^2 + \lambda^2} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2}\right).$$
(3.4)

Now we see that even though the initial mass may be negative (M < 0), the singularities in the effective metric (2.19) will be surrounded by horizon(s) if the conditions

$$M' > 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad |J'| \le M'l \tag{3.5}$$

are fulfilled. These in turn imply the constraints given by

$$f > \frac{1}{|M|}$$
 and $f \ge \frac{|g|}{l} + \frac{1}{|M|}$. (3.6)

Note that if $g \neq 0$ the first constraint is automatically included within the second one, and thus does not present any additional requirement.

In order to analyze these conditions further, we write f as

$$f = -4L_{\rm NC}\,\omega\left(\frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 + m^2} - \frac{2}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2}\right) + \frac{\sigma}{\lambda}g\,,\tag{3.7}$$

where the function g can be written as

$$g = -4 \frac{L_{\rm NC}\omega l^2}{\lambda\sigma} \frac{P}{\sigma^2 l^2 + \lambda^2} \left(\frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 - m^2} - \frac{1}{l^2\omega^2 + m^2}\right)$$
(3.8)

with

$$P = (8m^2\omega^2 + 1)\omega^4 l^4 + 2(8m^2\omega^2 - 1)m^2\omega^2 l^2 + (8m^2\omega^2 + 1)m^4.$$
 (3.9)

If we take P as a quadratic polynomial in l^2 , and note that the associated discriminant $-2(2m\omega)^6$ is nonpositive, while the leading coefficient $(8m^2\omega^2 + 1)\omega^4$ is nonnegative, it follows that $P \ge 0$. In other words, large fraction that constitutes the central part of the function g is nonnegative, which significantly simplifies the analysis. This allows us to write function g as

$$g = -2 \frac{L_{\rm NC} l^2}{m} \frac{\left(8m^2 \omega^2 (l^2 \omega^2 + m^2) + l^2 \omega^2 - m^2\right)^2 + 32m^6 \omega^2}{(l^2 \omega^2 + m^2)(8m^2 \omega^2 + 1)(4l^2 m^2 \omega^2 + (m^2 + l^2 \omega^2)^2)} \times \left(\frac{1}{l^2 \omega^2 - m^2} - \frac{1}{l^2 \omega^2 + m^2}\right).$$
(3.10)

Here we have following subcases:

- (a) g > 0 holds if either m > 0 and $\omega < m/l$ or m < 0 and $\omega > |m|/l$;
- (b) g < 0 holds if either m > 0 and $\omega > m/l$ or m < 0 and $\omega < |m|/l$.

Now, suppose that $0 < \omega < |m|/l$. By the analysis above, this implies that mg > 0. Furthermore, the first term of f in (3.7) is given by

$$-4L_{\rm NC}\,\omega\,\frac{-(l^2\omega^2+3m^2)}{(l^2\omega^2+m^2)(l^2\omega^2-m^2)},\tag{3.11}$$

and is thus negative. Also, as $(l\omega \pm m)^2 \ge 0$, it follows that

$$\frac{2\omega|m|l}{l^2\omega^2 + m^2} \le 1 \ . \tag{3.12}$$

In conclusion, $0 < \omega < |m|/l$ implies that f < |g|/l, so that in this case inequalities (3.6) cannot be fulfilled and the dressing of singularity does not occur.

The opposite case, when $\omega > |m|/l$, is pretty nontrivial to treat exactly, and one way to extract simple conclusion is to look for the expansions in the limiting cases of the energy ω . For example, if we look at the cases when $\alpha = l\omega/|m| \gg 1$, using expansions

$$f = \frac{4L_{\rm NC}}{l|m|} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha} + O(1/\alpha^3)\right), \quad f - \frac{g}{l} = \frac{4L_{\rm NC}}{l|m|} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha} + O(1/\alpha^3)\right), \tag{3.13}$$

we may deduce that in the following region of probe energies,

$$\frac{|m|}{l} \ll \omega < \frac{4L_{\rm NC}|M|}{l^2} \tag{3.14}$$

the noncommutative dressing is effective.

The above approximation is physical and well justified. Namely, at the Planck scale, the physical processes occur at very high energies. Thus, both the frequency and the angular momentum of the NC probe would typically be very high. Let us consider the probes satisfying the condition

$$l^2 \omega^2 \gg m^2, \tag{3.15}$$

such that

$$f = 4 \frac{L_{\rm NC}}{l^2 \omega}$$
 and $g = 0.$ (3.16)

The inequality (3.6) on f gives

$$\frac{l^2\omega}{4L_{\rm NC}} < |M|. \tag{3.17}$$

Using the eqs. (3.15) and (3.17) we find again the inequality (3.14).

A NC probe with frequency in this range will dress up a naked singularity of mass -|M| as a black hole with the parameters

$$M' = |M| \left[\frac{4L_{\rm NC}|M|}{l^2 \omega} - 1 \right] \qquad J' = 0, \qquad r_+ = l\sqrt{M'}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad r_- = 0, \qquad (3.18)$$

whose metric would be given by (2.19). Note that the above analysis can be extended for m = 0 as well, although in that case, the expression for g in (3.4) has to be analyzed with care. The above analysis provides a domain in the parameter space within which the noncommutativity dresses the naked singularity by acquiring a new horizon at $r_{+} = l\sqrt{M'}$.

4 Properties of the dressed singularity

4.1 Thermodynamical properties and entropy

In the previous section we have found a frequency range of the massive NC probe for which the dressed singularity has parameters described by (3.18). In this section we shall discuss the physical properties of the dressed singularity.

Let us first note that our analysis is valid only in the semi-classical limit, where the mass |M| is typically much greater that the Planck mass and any other energy scale in the problem. This ensures that the quantum back-reaction effects can be ignored. Under this assumption, and for the NC probes satisfying the condition (3.14), we find that the mass of the dressed singularity M' would also be much greater than the Planck mass. Thus the dressed singularity would be described by a massive spinless BTZ black hole with parameters given by (3.18) and it would be amenable to semi-classical analysis.

In view of these observations, the dressed singularity would satisfy all the laws of black hole thermodynamics [64, 65]. In particular, it would have a Bekenstein-Hawking entropy given by

$$S = \frac{A}{4} = \frac{\pi r_+}{2}.$$
 (4.1)

Using (3.18) we obtain the entropy as

$$S = \frac{\pi}{2} l \sqrt{|M|} \sqrt{\frac{4L_{\rm NC}|M|}{l^2 \omega} - 1}.$$
 (4.2)

For any non-zero $L_{\rm NC}$, it follows from (3.14) that the entropy of the dressed singularity is always positive.

4.2 QNM modes and connection to CFT

So far we have shown that under the influence of a NC probe, a naked singularity is dressed up as a BTZ black hole with certain parameters. We now turn to the question as to how an asymptotic observer can estimate the parameters of the dressed singularity. We propose that the quasi-normal modes (QNM) [63, 66, 67] of the dressed singularity can be used for this purpose. For the purpose of simplicity, we shall consider the scalar field QNM here, although the analysis can be easily extended to the fermionic or vector field QNM as well.

In order to proceed, we couple a commutative massless scalar field with frequency Ω to the dressed singularity and solve the corresponding Klein-Gordon equation with the QNM boundary conditions. Since the dressed singularity is a BTZ black hole with mass M' and angular momentum J', the QNM boundary conditions state that the field is purely ingoing at the horizon and it vanishes at infinity. With these boundary conditions, the QNM frequencies are obtained as [63]

$$\Omega_{L/R} = \pm \frac{m}{l} - 2i\left(\frac{r_+ \mp r_-}{l^2}\right)(n+1) = \pm \frac{m}{l} - 2i\frac{\sqrt{M'l^2 \mp |J'|l}}{l^2}(n+1), \quad (4.3)$$

where $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ is the angular momentum of the scalar field and n is an integer and L, R corresponds to the left and right moving modes respectively. An asymptotic observer can measure these frequencies and thereby obtain the geometric parameters of the dressed singularity.

Next we discuss the dual CFT description of the dressed singularity in the context of the QNM. Physically the QNM describe the perturbation of the metric outside the black hole, whereas in the dual description, the perturbations of the CFT are also described by the same QNM frequencies. These CFT's exist at finite temperatures given by

$$T_{L/R} = \frac{r_+ \mp r_-}{2\pi l^2} = \frac{\sqrt{M' l^2 \mp |J'| l}}{2\pi l^2}$$
(4.4)

The AdS/CFT duality in this context is also supported by the Sullivan's theorem [68–73] which states that for a certain class (geometrically finite) of hyperbolic manifolds, there is a one-to-one correspondence between the hyperbolic structure in the interior and the conformal structure at the boundary. It has been shown that the Euclidean continuation of the BTZ black hole satisfies all the requirements of the Sullivann's theorem. Since the dressed singularity has the geometric structure of a BTZ black hole, it admits an AdS/CFT duality at the kinematical level.

By taking into account eq. (3.2) we can determine the QNM and the temperature scale for our dressed situation as

$$\Omega_{L/R} = \pm \frac{m}{l} - 2i \frac{\sqrt{M(1+Mf)l^2 \mp |g| M^2 l}}{l^2} (n+1)$$
(4.5)

$$T_{L/R} = \frac{\sqrt{M(1+Mf)l^2 \mp |g| M^2 l}}{2\pi l^2}$$
(4.6)

4.3 Naked singularity and quantum completeness

Naked singularities are "part of the spacetime" where the curvature tensor and the energy density are ill defined due to possible accordance of infinities [74]. However, in the spirit of weak cosmic censorship hypothesis, proposed by Penrose [2–4], one can ignore this problem if such singularities are "hidden" behind an event horizon, since no causal signal can reach an outside observer from the questionable region. The aforementioned reasoning is natural in a completely classical setting, but it is already known [31, 32] that if one takes the quantum effects into account one can indeed dress the naked singularity with an event horizon, thus enforcing the weak cosmic censorship.

We used NC geometry as a model for describing quantum gravity effects. In the previous subsection we saw that introducing noncommutativity dresses the naked singularity in 2+1 dimension. Namely, in 2+1 dimension the black hole solution of Einstein equation (with the cosmological constant) is given by the BTZ metric [28, 29] which is parametrized by its mass M and angular momentum J and if these parameters satisfy -1 < M < 0and J = 0 we are dealing with a continuous sequence of naked singularities (point particle sources) at the origin. This singularity originates from a topological obstruction since the Ricci curvature in that case has a term that is proportional to the Dirac δ -function in addition to the constant curvature [75]. Furthermore it can be shown that this naked singularity is not resolved via quantum scalar probe [49, 76], meaning that this space is geodesically and quantum mechanically incomplete. However we have shown that by introducing the noncommutativity one can dress the naked singularity by producing an event horizon and one can further investigate if the effective space is quantum complete. Namely, the spacetime is said to be quantum complete if the evolution of any state is uniquely defined for all time. This leads one to examine the wave equations of test fields, extract the Hamiltonian and via von Neumann's criteria investigate its self-adjoint properties (extensions). If the aforementioned Hamiltonian has a unique self-adjoint extension, then it will render a unique time evolution and such a system is referred to as quantum complete (or non-singular), since the test field will not "see" the spacetime singularity during its propagation (for more details and explicit examples the reader is referred to [18-27]).

In previous works by some of the authors [54, 77] it was shown that the quantum completeness is achieved if the following condition is fulfilled

$$\frac{l^2 r_+}{r_+^2 - r_-^2} \ge 1 \tag{4.7}$$

which for $Ml \gg J$ reduces to [54]

$$\sqrt{M} \le l \tag{4.8}$$

Now, taking into account eq. (3.1) and (3.2) we rerwite $M \longrightarrow M' = |M| (f |M| - 1)$ and obtain

$$f \le \frac{l^2}{|M|^2} + \frac{1}{|M|} \tag{4.9}$$

which combined with (3.6) finally gives

$$\frac{1}{|M|} \le f \le \frac{l^2}{|M|^2} + \frac{1}{|M|} \tag{4.10}$$

Condition (4.10) gives a bound on $L_{\rm NC}$ for which the naked singularity is dressed and for which the corresponding space is quantum complete for a scalar probe.

5 Final remarks

The weak cosmic censorship hypothesis plays a fundamental role in cosmology. In this paper we have considered a toy model of 2+1 gravity in the presence of a negative cosmological constant which admits naked singularities. There are two aspects of the Planck scale physics which play important role in our analysis. First aspect is that noncommutativity generically arises at the Planck scale [38, 39]. We have considered a κ -deformed type of noncommutativity as that is naturally associated with black hole physics [48]. It is also expected that the physical processes occur at very high energies at the Planck scale. This is the second feature which is relevant for our analysis.

Using a by now well established notion of noncommutative duality [55–58], we have shown that a naked singularity in our toy model will generically be hidden under event horizon(s), provided that the probe frequency ω does not belong to the range $0 < \omega < |m|/l$. In particular, if the probe has very high energy as given in (3.14), then the resulting dressed object is a massive spinless BTZ black hole with a single event horizon. For intermediate energies the naked singularity is dressed as a massive spinning BTZ black hole. Only for very low energy probes, the singularity is not dressed. Such probes are however highly improbable at the Planck scale where physical processes typically occur at high energies. Thus for typical noncommutative probes, our analysis is consistent with the weak cosmic censorship hypothesis.

The noncommutative duality clearly shows that the dressed singularity is geometrically equivalent to a BTZ black hole. We can therefore immediately obtain the physical properties of the dressed singularity. In particular, such a dressed singularity would obey all the laws of black hole thermodynamics. In addition, when perturbed by a suitable field, it would give rise to the usual quasi-normal modes of a BTZ black hole with the usual holographic interpretation. Finally, we show that the spacetime of the dressed singularity can even be quantum mechanically complete depending on the nature of the probe.

In addition to the dressed singularity, our analysis results in a very light scalar as a byproduct of the duality transformation. Such a light scalar is of great significance in cosmology, especially in the context of quintessence [53]. However, the details of the cosmological implications of the light scalar resulting from our analysis is beyond the scope of this work.

We end this paper with few remarks. First, it may be noted that a large class of string theories contain a BTZ factor in the near-horizon geometry [78–82]. Thus, it is plausible that our analysis holds in a much broader context as described by these string theories. Secondly, in this paper we have not directly considered the quantum aspects of the noncommutative probe, in particular we have not considered backreaction effects of the test particles. It would be interesting to see what kind of physical effects would such quantum backreactions invoke, and we plan to investigate this more in the future. Finally, we note that the analysis carried out in this paper might be extended to 3+1 dimensional spacetime to investigate whether noncommutativity can dress a naked singularity in this more realistic situation and in case of a positive result, to study properties of the object obtained in this way [83–85].

Acknowledgments

This work was partially supported by the H2020 CSA Twinning project No. 692194, RBI-T-WINNING and by the European Union through the European Regional Development Fund — the Competitiveness and Cohesion Operational Programme (KK.01.1.1.06).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- S.W. Hawking, R. Penrose, The singularities of gravitational collapse and cosmology, Proce. Roy. Soc. London A 314 (1970) 529.
- [2] R. Penrose, Gravitational collapse: the role of general relativity, Riv. Nuovo Cim. 1 (1969)
 252 [Gen. Rel. Grav. 34 (2002) 1141] [INSPIRE].

- [3] R. Penrose, Singularities and time-asymmetry, in General relativity: an Einstein centenary survey, S.W. Hawking and W. Israel eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1979).
- [4] R. Penrose, The question of cosmic censorship, J. Astrophys. Astron. 20 (1999) 233
 [INSPIRE].
- [5] S.W. Hawking and R. Penrose, The singularities of gravitational collapse and cosmology, Proc. Roy. Soc. London A 314 (1970) 529.
- [6] A. Ashtekar, M. Bojowald and J. Lewandowski, Mathematical structure of loop quantum cosmology, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2003) 233 [gr-qc/0304074] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Ashtekar and M. Bojowald, Quantum geometry and the Schwarzschild singularity, Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 391 [gr-qc/0509075] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M. Bojowald, Quantum geometry and its implications for black holes, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 15 (2006) 1545 [gr-qc/0607130] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Yonika, G. Khanna and P. Singh, Von-Neumann stability and singularity resolution in loop quantized Schwarzschild black hole, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 045007
 [arXiv:1709.06331] [INSPIRE].
- S. Saini and P. Singh, Geodesic completeness and the lack of strong singularities in effective loop quantum Kantowski-Sachs spacetime, Class. Quant. Grav. 33 (2016) 245019
 [arXiv:1606.04932] [INSPIRE].
- [11] S.R. Das, String theory and cosmological singularities, Pramana 69 (2007) 93.
- S.D. Mathur, The fuzzball proposal for black holes: an elementary review, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 793 [hep-th/0502050] [INSPIRE].
- [13] T. Biswas, E. Gerwick, T. Koivisto and A. Mazumdar, Towards singularity and ghost free theories of gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 031101 [arXiv:1110.5249] [INSPIRE].
- [14] L. Bosma, B. Knorr and F. Saueressig, Resolving spacetime singularities within asymptotic safety, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 101301 [arXiv:1904.04845] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Saini and D. Stojković, Nonlocal (but also nonsingular) physics at the last stages of gravitational collapse, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 044003 [arXiv:1401.6182] [INSPIRE].
- [16] E. Greenwood and D. Stojkovic, Quantum gravitational collapse: Non-singularity and non-locality, JHEP 06 (2008) 042 [arXiv:0802.4087] [INSPIRE].
- [17] J.E. Wang, E. Greenwood and D. Stojković, Schrödinger formalism, black hole horizons and singularity behavior, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 124027 [arXiv:0906.3250] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G.T. Horowitz and D. Marolf, Quantum probes of space-time singularities, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 5670 [gr-qc/9504028] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Hofmann and M. Schneider, Classical versus quantum completeness, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 125028 [arXiv:1504.05580] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Reed and B. Simon, Fourier analysis, self-adjointness, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics volume 2, Academic Press, New York U.S.A. (1975).
- [21] P.R. Chernoff, Essential self-adjointness of powers of generators of hyperbolic equations, J. Funct. Anal. 12 (1973) 401.
- [22] A. Ishibashi and A. Hosoya, Who's afraid of naked singularities? Probing timelike singularities with finite energy waves, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104028 [gr-qc/9907009]
 [INSPIRE].

- [23] A. Ishibashi and R.M. Wald, Dynamics in nonglobally hyperbolic static space-times. 2. General analysis of prescriptions for dynamics, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) 3815
 [gr-qc/0305012] [INSPIRE].
- [24] D.A. Konkowski, T.M. Helliwell and C. Wieland, Quantum singularity of Levi-Civita space-times, Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004) 265 [gr-qc/0401009] [INSPIRE].
- [25] R.M. Wald, Note on the stability of the Schwarzschild metric, J. Math. Phys. 20 (1978) 1056 [Erratum ibid. 21 (1980) 218].
- [26] R.M. Wald, Dynamics in nonglobally hyperbolic, static space-times, J. Math. Phys. 21 (1980) 2802.
- [27] D.A. Konkowski and T.M. Helliwell, Understanding singularities Classical and quantum, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 31 (2016) 1641007.
- [28] M. Bañados, C. Teitelboim and J. Zanelli, The black hole in three-dimensional space-time, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 1849 [hep-th/9204099] [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Bañados, M. Henneaux, C. Teitelboim and J. Zanelli, Geometry of the (2 + 1) black hole, *Phys. Rev.* D 48 (1993) 1506 [Erratum ibid. D 88 (2013) 069902] [gr-qc/9302012] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Martinez and J. Zanelli, Back reaction of a conformal field on a three-dimensional black hole, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 3642 [gr-qc/9610050] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M. Casals, A. Fabbri, C. Martínez and J. Zanelli, Quantum dress for a naked singularity, Phys. Lett. B 760 (2016) 244 [arXiv:1605.06078] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M. Casals, A. Fabbri, C. Martínez and J. Zanelli, Quantum backreaction on three-dimensional black holes and naked singularities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 131102
 [arXiv:1608.05366] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J.V. Rocha and V. Cardoso, Gravitational perturbation of the BTZ black hole induced by test particles and weak cosmic censorship in AdS spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 104037 [arXiv:1102.4352] [INSPIRE].
- [34] N. Arkani-Hamed, L. Motl, A. Nicolis and C. Vafa, The string landscape, black holes and gravity as the weakest force, JHEP 06 (2007) 060 [hep-th/0601001] [INSPIRE].
- [35] T. Crisford, G.T. Horowitz and J.E. Santos, Testing the weak gravity Cosmic censorship connection, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 066005 [arXiv:1709.07880] [INSPIRE].
- [36] G.T. Horowitz and J.E. Santos, Further evidence for the weak gravity Cosmic censorship connection, JHEP 06 (2019) 122 [arXiv:1901.11096] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D.V. Ahluwalia, Quantum measurements, gravitation and locality, Phys. Lett. B 339 (1994) 301 [gr-qc/9308007] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen and J.E. Roberts, Space-time quantization induced by classical gravity, Phys. Lett. B 331 (1994) 39 [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen and J.E. Roberts, The quantum structure of spacetime at the Planck scale and quantum fields, Commun. Math. Phys. 172 (1995) 187.
- [40] M. Burić and J. Madore, Noncommutative de Sitter and FRW spaces, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 502 [arXiv:1508.06058] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Burić and D. Latas, Discrete fuzzy de Sitter cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 024053
 [arXiv:1903.08378] [INSPIRE].
- [42] J. Lukierski, H. Ruegg, A. Nowicki and V.N. Tolstoi, Q deformation of Poincaré algebra, Phys. Lett. B 264 (1991) 331 [INSPIRE].

- [43] J. Lukierski and H. Ruegg, Quantum kappa Poincaré in any dimension, Phys. Lett. B 329 (1994) 189 [hep-th/9310117] [INSPIRE].
- [44] S. Majid and H. Ruegg, Bicrossproduct structure of kappa Poincaré group and noncommutative geometry, Phys. Lett. B 334 (1994) 348 [hep-th/9405107] [INSPIRE].
- [45] P. Schupp and S. Solodukhin, *Exact black hole solutions in noncommutative gravity*, arXiv:0906.2724 [INSPIRE].
- [46] B.P. Dolan, K.S. Gupta and A. Stern, Noncommutative BTZ black hole and discrete time, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 1647 [hep-th/0611233] [INSPIRE].
- [47] B.P. Dolan, K.S. Gupta and A. Stern, Noncommutativity and quantum structure of spacetime, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 174 (2009) 012023 [INSPIRE].
- [48] T. Ohl and A. Schenkel, Cosmological and black hole spacetimes in twisted noncommutative gravity, JHEP 10 (2009) 052 [arXiv:0906.2730] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J.P.M. Pitelli and P.S. Letelier, Quantum singularities in the BTZ spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 124030 [arXiv:0805.3926] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Marcolli and E. Pierpaoli, Early universe models from noncommutative geometry, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 14 (2010) 1373 [arXiv:0908.3683] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Alexander, R. Brandenberger and J. Magueijo, Noncommutative inflation, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 081301 [hep-th/0108190] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T.S. Koivisto and D.F. Mota, CMB statistics in noncommutative inflation, JHEP 02 (2011) 061 [arXiv:1011.2126] [INSPIRE].
- [53] S. Tsujikawa, Quintessence: a review, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 214003
 [arXiv:1304.1961] [INSPIRE].
- [54] T. Jurić, Quantum space and quantum completeness, JHEP 05 (2018) 007
 [arXiv:1802.09873] [INSPIRE].
- [55] K.S. Gupta et al., Effects of noncommutativity on the black hole entropy, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2014 (2014) 139172 [arXiv:1312.5100] [INSPIRE].
- [56] K.S. Guptae t al., Noncommutative scalar quasinormal modes and quantization of entropy of a BTZ black hole, JHEP 09 (2015) 025 [arXiv:1505.04068] [INSPIRE].
- [57] T. Jurić and A. Samsarov, Entanglement entropy renormalization for the noncommutative scalar field coupled to classical BTZ geometry, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 104033
 [arXiv:1602.01488] [INSPIRE].
- [58] K.S. Gupta, T. Jurić and A. Samsarov, Noncommutative duality and fermionic quasinormal modes of the BTZ black hole, JHEP 06 (2017) 107 [arXiv:1703.00514] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S. Meljanac, A. Samsarov, M. Stojic and K.S. Gupta, Kappa-Minkowski space-time and the star product realizations, Eur. Phys. J. C 53 (2008) 295 [arXiv:0705.2471] [INSPIRE].
- [60] T.R. Govindarajan et al., Twisted statistics in kappa-Minkowski spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 105010 [arXiv:0802.1576] [INSPIRE].
- [61] T. Juric, S. Meljanac and R. Strajn, Twists, realizations and Hopf algebroid structure of kappa-deformed phase space, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 29 (2014) 1450022 [arXiv:1305.3088]
 [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Juric, S. Meljanac and D. Pikutic, Realizations of κ-Minkowski space, Drinfeld twists and related symmetry algebras, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 528 [arXiv:1506.04955] [INSPIRE].

- [63] D. Birmingham, Choptuik scaling and quasinormal modes in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 064024 [hep-th/0101194] [INSPIRE].
- [64] S.-W. Kim, W.T. Kim, Y.-J. Park and H. Shin, Entropy of the BTZ black hole in (2+1)-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 392 (1997) 311 [hep-th/9603043] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D.V. Singh and S. Siwach, Thermodynamics of BTZ black hole and entanglement entropy, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 481 (2014) 012014 [INSPIRE].
- [66] V. Cardoso and J.P.S. Lemos, Scalar, electromagnetic and Weyl perturbations of BTZ black holes: Quasinormal modes, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 124015 [gr-qc/0101052] [INSPIRE].
- [67] D. Birmingham, I. Sachs and S.N. Solodukhin, Conformal field theory interpretation of black hole quasinormal modes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 151301 [hep-th/0112055] [INSPIRE].
- [68] D. Sullivan, On the ergodic theory at infinity of an arbitrary discrete group of hyperbolic motions, in Proceedings of the 1978 Stony Brook Conference on Riemann Surfaces and Related Topics, I. Kra and B. Maskit eds., Annals of Mathematics Studies volume 97, Princeton University Press, Princeton U.S.A. (1981).
- [69] C. McMullen, Riemann surfaces and the geometrization of 3-manifolds, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 27 (1992) 207.
- [70] C. McMullen, Iteration on Teichmüller space, Invent. Math. 99 (1990) 425.
- [71] D. Birmingham, C. Kennedy, S. Sen and A. Wilkins, Geometrical finiteness, holography, and the Bañados-Teitelboim-Zanelli black hole, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 4164.
- [72] D. Birmingham, I. Sachs and S. Sen, Exact results for the BTZ black hole, Int. Jour. Mod. Phys. D 10 (2001) 833 [hep-th/0102155].
- [73] K.S. Gupta and S. Sen, Geometric finiteness and non-quasinormal modes of the BTZ black hole, Phys. Lett. B 618 (2005) 237 [hep-th/0504175] [INSPIRE].
- [74] R.M. Wald, General relativity, University of Chicago Press, Chicago U.S.A. (1984).
- [75] N.R. Pantoja, H. Rago and R.O. Rodriguez, Curvature singularity of the distributional BTZ black hole geometry, J. Math. Phys. 45 (2004) 1994 [gr-qc/0205094] [INSPIRE].
- [76] O. Unver and O. Gurtug, Quantum singularities in (2+1) dimensional matter coupled black hole spacetimes, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 084016 [arXiv:1004.2572] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S.K. Chakrabarti, P.R. Giri and K.S. Gupta, Normal mode analysis for scalar fields in BTZ black hole background, Eur. Phys. J. C 60 (2009) 169 [arXiv:0807.2385] [INSPIRE].
- [78] J.M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, AdS₃ black holes and a stringy exclusion principle, JHEP 12 (1998) 005 [hep-th/9804085] [INSPIRE].
- [79] O. Aharony et al., Large N field theories, string theory and gravity, Phys. Rept. 323 (2000)
 183 [hep-th/9905111] [INSPIRE].
- [80] A.W. Peet, TASI lectures on black holes in string theory, in the proceedings of Strings, branes and gravity. Theoretical Advanced Study Institute (TASI'99), May 31–June 25, Boulder, U.S.A. (1999), hep-th/0008241 [INSPIRE].
- [81] M. Cvetič and F. Larsen, Statistical entropy of four-dimensional rotating black holes from near-horizon geometry, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 484 [hep-th/9805146] [INSPIRE].
- [82] K. Sfetsos and K. Skenderis, Microscopic derivation of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy formula for nonextremal black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 517 (1998) 179 [hep-th/9711138]
 [INSPIRE].

- [83] M.D. Ćirić, N. Konjik and A. Samsarov, Noncommutative scalar quasinormal modes of the Reissner-Nordström black hole, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 175005 [arXiv:1708.04066] [INSPIRE].
- [84] M.D. Ćirić, N. Konjik and A. Samsarov, Noncommutative scalar field in the non-extremal Reissner-Nordström background: QNM spectrum, arXiv:1904.04053 [INSPIRE].
- [85] T. Jurić et al., Some physical aspects of NC Reissner-Nordström black hole, in preparation.